IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC11-842 LT CASE NO.: 2007-CF-000866

WILLIAM GREGORY, Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

RICHARD R. KURITZ, ESQUIRE Florida Bar No: 0972540 200 East Forsyth Street Jacksonville, Florida 32202 Telephone: (904) 355-1999 Facsimile: (904) 854-1999 ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, William Gregory, will be referred to herein by name as "Appellant" or "Gregory". The Appellee, State of Florida, will be referred to herein as the "State" or "prosecution". References to the Record on Appeal will be designated by the symbol "R", the supplement to the record will be referred to as SR, with reference to relevant page set forth in brackets.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellant was arrested for First Degree Murder and Burglary of a Dwelling on August 21, 2007. This Appeal is from Appellant's second trial. On October 12, 2010, during the course of the first trial, the Honorable Kim C. Hammond granted a Motion for Mistrial. (R. III. p. 479). On March 3, 2011, the jury in the second trial returned a verdict of guilty of Murder in the First Degree as to Counts I and II, guilty of Burglary of a Dwelling with an Assault while in Possession of a Firearm as to Count III, and guilty of Possession of a Firearm by a Convicted Felon as to Count IV. (R. IV, pp. 604-607).

After Judge Hammond's Order Granting Motion for Mistrial was entered, the Chief Judge, due to Judge Hammond's pending retirement, entered an Order of Reassignment on October 18, 2010 appointing the Honorable William Parsons to try the instant case (R. III p. 481). On February 4, 2011, during a hearing conducted by Judge Parsons on Appellant's Motion in Limine #3, the Court overruled the Appellant's objection to the introduction of a statement allegedly made to a Francis Bowling that "if [Appellant] ever caught [victim Skylar Meekins] with another man, he would kill her." Appellant argued that the statement, if made, was too remote to be relevant. The Court overruled Appellant's objection and stated that it found such statements to be "*prophetic*" (R. XXVI, p. 66) (emphasis added), demonstrating the Court had already publicly prejudged Appellant to be guilty. The Court also made further comments demonstrating bias in favor of the State, and those comments were subsequently published in the Daytona Beach News-Journal, the prominent newspaper of the area. The Court commented after hearing a recording of the victim that to hear her voice was "refreshing", and that the Appellant had "silenced" that voice. (R. XXVI, p.86)

Due to the Court's comments, Appellant filed a legally sufficient Motion to Disqualify Judge (R. III, p. 538). The Court denied the motion without explanation (R. III, p. 536).

At trial, the State presented evidence that on the night of August 21, 2007 Appellant, entered the Meekins' residence without permission and killed both Skylar Meekins and Daniel Dyer after retrieving a shotgun that was kept in a hall closet and shooting both of them as they slept.

The state also presented evidence that the Appellant and Ms. Meekins had been involved in a relationship that produced a child. They had known each other for a number of years and, after the baby was born, moved in together and lived with Skylar's grandparents for approximately one (1) year until Appellant was asked to leave.

Shortly thereafter, Appellant was in jail on unrelated charges and the relationship began to deteriorate. Skylar Meekins no longer wanted a relationship with Appellant, and that was made clear to him in a number of recorded jail calls. The State presented evidence attempting to show Appellant to be suspicious, controlling and demanding when it came to Skylar Meekins.

The State presented evidence that Appellant became close friends with Skylar's brother Colton Meekins and would call him from the jail, wanting to know what Skylar was doing, where she was and who she was with. Appellant allegedly told Colton Meekins that Skylar had better not be screwing around on him. The state presented testimony that Appellant told Colton to check Skylar's email so he could see who she was talking to. Appellant allegedly told Colton to check her MySpace page, see what photos were on there, telling him to erase anything that had to do with any other males (R. XV, pp. 951-962).

After presenting these phone conversations, the state presented evidence to prove that Appellant was angry. The State called a former cell mate, Tyrone

Graves, to testify that Graves was present when these phone calls were made and that Appellant made incriminating statements to him after those phone conversations (R. XV, pp. 1105-1106).

While Appellant was still in jail in June 2007 on unrelated charges, the state presented evidence that the two victims met and started dating on July 4, 2007. Appellant had let it be known to Skylar that he was about to get out of jail and he wanted to do something with her, but she did not want to see him, and this upset him.

The State presented evidence that as soon as Appellant got out of jail, he learned about this new relationship between Skylar Meekins and Daniel Dyer. The state presented evidence that showed Appellant was jealous and angry, even stalking Skylar at one point and showing up unannounced and secretly watching her as she was swimming in a pool with friends (R. XVI, pp. 1147-1150).

The State called Francis Bowling to testify that six to eight months prior to the murders, Bowling worked with Appellant as both were roofers. During the course of their employment together, Bowling testified, they had conversations about what either would do if they caught their girlfriends cheating on them. According to Francis Bowling, Appellant said that he would kill them both (R. XIV, p. 918). On August 20, 2007 the evidence showed that Appellant had made numerous phone calls to Skylar Meekins and phone calls to a cab company late in the evening. Shortly thereafter, Appellant entered Skylar Meekins' residence, found her and Daniel Dyer sleeping in bed together, and killed them both with a shotgun found inside the home.

On August 21, 2007 the Flagler County Sheriff's Office was contacted after Skylar Meekins' grandparents made the gruesome discovery of the bodies. Sheriff's Office evidence technicians took photographs and collected physical evidence. At the scene of the alleged crime, a semi-automatic shotgun was found lying on the floor inside the bedroom. This shotgun was owned by Skylar's father, Charles Meekins, and had been stored inside a closet in the residence (R. XVI, pp. 1194-1196). Skylar Meekins and Daniel Dyer were found lying on her bed, both deceased from shotgun blasts to the head.

The State presented evidence from family members of Skylar Meekins to confirm that Skylar had broken off the relationship with William Gregory just prior to Gregory's incarceration at the Flagler County Jail on June 6, 2007. The Meekins family members explained how the breakup upset the Appellant to the point that he would steal items, such as Skylar's driver's license, from the Meekins' residence and then call to see if he could bring the items back, in hopes of seeing Skylar again. The family members further relayed that Appellant was known to frequently argue with Skylar Meekins at the residence and that she would frequently ask Appellant to leave. Investigators were further advised by the Meekins family that although the house was completely secured, Appellant would unlawfully enter the house via the bedroom window of Skylar Meekins, as well as utilizing the back door, the garage door, and the front door.

Appellant's brother, Edward Kory Gregory, testified that approximately one week prior to the homicides Appellant confided in his brother that he wanted to kill Skylar Meekins and himself so that they could be together (R. XVIII, pp. 1487-1489).

Michael Green, who was Daniel Dyer's best friend and roommate, testified that several days prior to the homicides, Appellant called Dyer's cell phone while Dyer and Green were working on a job. Dyer then related to Green that Appellant had told him, in so many words, "I want to personally thank you for messing up my family." (R. XXVI, pp. 1245-1246).

On the night of the homicides, calls from William Gregory's residence to the Meekins' home phone were made at 10:05 p.m., 10:07 p.m., 10:14 p.m., 10:20 p.m., 10:25 p.m., 10:26 p.m., and 10:27 p.m. At 10:31 p.m., a call was placed from Appellant's residence to A1 American Taxi Cab. A second call was placed to A1 at 11:32 p.m. Neither call was connected successfully. There were no other

calls placed from Appellant's residence for the next five (5) hours. There was evidence that Appellant did not have access to a vehicle.

There was testimony that gunshots were heard in the residence at approximately 1:08 a.m., consistent with the approximate time of death of the victims. William Gregory was seen by his grandmother Mary Lou Wilson returning to his residence at approximately 3:30 a.m. - 3:45 a.m. Members of the Flagler County Sheriff's office walked the distance between Appellant's residence and the Meekins residence and found that the walk took them one hour and twenty nine minutes, a timeline which comports with the time of death of the victims and the walking distance between the two residences from the last call to the cab company.

While processing the shotgun used in the homicide, three fingerprints were recovered by FDLE (R.XIV, pp. 848-849). A comparison of the latent prints and known fingerprints of Appellant were consistent. (R. XIX, p. 1747).

At the close of the evidence, the jury found William Gregory guilty. Appellant filed a Motion for New Trial, which was denied. The penalty phase was conducted on March 8–9, 2011. The jury returned a recommendation of a death sentence with a majority vote of 7 to 5 as to each count (R. IV, pp. 669-670). A *Spencer* hearing was held on April 1, 2011.

Appellant timely filed his Notice of Appeal, and this appeal follows. Any delay was due to the substitution of counsel and numerous attempts to acquire the complete Record prior to the undersigned accepting the appointment for representation.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- 1. The trial court erred in denying Appellant's Motion to Disqualify Judge / Motion for Recusal. The Motion was legally sufficient under Florida Rule of Judicial Administration 2.330, and should have resulted in the immediate and proper recusal of Judge William Parsons.
- 2. The trial court erred in denying Appellant's Motion in Limine by permitting testimony by Francis Bowling. The testimony that was too remote in time and unduly prejudicial to Appellant.
- 3. The trial court erred by admitting, over Appellant's objection, testimony from Tyrone Graves, a former inmate at the St. Johns County Jail, when the witness could not identify Appellant at trial. Graves testified that a person he knew as William Gregory made statements while in jail that if he ever caught his girlfriend with anyone else, he would kill them both. These statements were hearsay and unduly prejudicial to Appellant especially since Graves could not identify Appellant at trial.
- 4. The trial court erred by admitting, over Appellant's objection, a statement allegedly made by Appellant to victim Dan Dyer days prior to the homicides. Witnesses Michael Green and Cory Aldrich testified that Dyer had told them that Appellant said to Dyer something to the effect of "thanks for messing up my family." This is hearsay, irrelevant and unduly prejudicial to Appellant.
- 5. The trial court erred by denying Appellant's Motion in Limine regarding the admissibility in the penalty phase of the aggravating factor of "cold, calculated and premeditated" and by denying Appellant's Motion for Mistrial after the Court denied the Motion in Limine. No evidence was presented to corroborate or support this aggravating factor.

6. The trial court erred by finding that the aggravating factor of "cold, calculated and premeditated" was proven beyond a reasonable doubt. No evidence was presented to support this aggravating factor.

POINTS ON APPEAL

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO DISQUALIFY JUDGE.
- II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING APPELLANT'S FIRST AND THIRD MOTIONS IN LIMINE.
- III. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING, OVER APPELLANT'S OBJECTION, TESTIMONY FROM TYRONE GRAVES.
- IV. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING, OVER APPELLANT'S OBJECTION, HEARSAY TESTIMONY FROM MICHAEL GREEN AND CORI ALDRICH.
- V. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION IN LIMINE CONCERNING THE AGGRAVATING FACTOR OF "COLD, CALCULATING AND PREMEDITATED" AND BY ALLOWING THAT FACTOR TO BE ADMITTED.
- VI. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FINDING THAT THE AGGRAVATING FACTOR OF "COLD, CALCULATED AND PREMEDITATED" WAS PROVEN BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

ARGUMENT

I. <u>THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING APPELLANT'S</u> <u>MOTION TO DISQUALIFY JUDGE</u>.

The trial court committed reversible error by denying Appellant's Motion to Disqualify Judge and Motion for Rehearing (R. III, pp. 538-544). During a hearing conducted by Judge William Parsons on February 4, 2011 on Appellant's Motion in Limine, the Court overruled Appellant's objection to the introduction of a statement allegedly made by Appellant to Francis Bowling that if (Appellant) ever caught (victim) Skylar Meekins with another man, he would kill her. Appellant objected to the statement and argued that if the statement had in fact been made, it was too remote in time to be relevant. The Court, however, overruled Appellant's objection and stated that it found such statements to be "*prophetic*" (R. XXVI, p. 66) (emphasis added). In doing so, the Court evidenced a bias against Appellant. The statement was a clear indication that he had pre-judged the Appellant guilty prior to trial and before hearing any evidence in the case.

The Court further commented that it found the introduction of certain phone calls that contained the voice of victim Skylar Meekins to be "**refreshing**" in that her voice, which "**had been silenced**," would now be allowed to be heard (R. XXVI, p. 86) (emphasis added). Such additional commentary in open court evidenced a judicial bias against Appellant and in favor of the victims and the State, and it certainly compounds Appellant's perception that he will not receive a fair trial. Furthermore, the Court's comments were published in the Daytona Beach News-Journal, the main newspaper in the area for the potential jurors to read. The public perception should be clear that the trial court had prejudged Appellant's guilt.

On February 8, 2011 Appellant filed the Motion to Disqualify Judge and Motion for Rehearing. The Motion was in writing; it alleged specifically the facts and reasons upon which Appellant relied as grounds for disqualification; it was sworn to by Appellant; it separately certified that it was made in good faith; it specifically stated that Appellant feared he would not receive a fair and impartial trial due to named facts that would indicate a bias or prejudice; and it was timely filed (R. III, pp. 538-544).

Under Rule 2.330 Florida Rules of Judicial Administration (Disqualification of Trial Judges), Judge William Parsons committed reversible error by not immediately recusing himself once the Motion to Disqualify was timely filed. Rule 2.330 states the following:

> (c) <u>Motion</u> A motion to disqualify shall:

- 1. be in writing;
- 2. allege specifically the facts and reasons upon which the movant relies as the grounds for disqualification;
- 3. be sworn to by the party by signing the motion under oath or by separate affidavit; and
- 4. the attorney for the party shall separately certify that the motion and the client's statements are made in good faith.

(d) Grounds

A motion to disqualify shall show:

1. that the party fears that he or she will not receive a fair trial or hearing because of specifically described prejudice or bias of the judge.

(e) <u>Time</u>

A motion to disqualify shall be filed within a reasonable time not to exceed 10 days after discovery of the facts constituting grounds for the Motion and shall be promptly presented to the court for an immediate ruling.

(f) <u>Determination</u>

The judge against whom an initial motion to disqualify under subdivision (d)(1) is directed shall determine only the legal sufficiency of the motion and shall not pass on the truth of the facts alleged. If the motion is legally sufficient, the judge *shall* (emphasis added) immediately enter an order granting disqualification and proceed no further in the action.

Examination of the Motion to Disqualify filed by Appellant clearly shows it to be legally sufficient under Rule 2.330. Based on this, Judge Parsons was required under this Rule to grant the Motion and immediately disqualify himself. The language of the Rule is clear. It does not give the judge discretion to decide whether or not to recuse himself. If the Motion is legally sufficient – as it were in this case – then Judge Parsons *shall* immediately enter an order granting disqualification. He erred by denying the Motion and refusing to disqualify himself.

While each of the comments alone would be enough for a legally sufficient motion to recuse, the cumulative nature clearly demonstrate such.

II. <u>THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DENYING APPELLANT'S THIRD</u> MOTION IN LIMINE.

The trial court committed reversible error by denying Appellant's Motion in Limine #3. This Motion concerned the testimony of Francis Bowling, a witness who knew the Appellant from their time working together as roofers. The state presented testimony from witness Bowling regarding statements that Appellant allegedly made to Bowling approximately eight (8) months prior to the homicides. According to witness Bowling, Appellant allegedly stated that he would harm or kill Skylar Meekins or anyone else if she (Skylar) ever left Appellant.

Appellant filed a Motion in Limine, arguing that the alleged statement was too remote in time, irrelevant and prejudicial (R. III, pp. 418-419). The Court subsequently denied the Motion. At trial, witness Bowling testified to the alleged statement (R. XIV, p. 918).

One case on point is <u>Walker v. State</u>, 997 P. 2d 803 (Nev. 2000), cited approvingly by the Court in a Florida case, <u>Robertson v. State</u>, 780 So. 2d 106 (Fla. App 3d Dist 2001). In <u>Walker</u>, the Appellant had threatened to kill her husband twice - ten years prior and six years prior - before actually killing him and had pointed a gun at him both times. The Court held that the prior threatening acts and statements were not admissible as too remote in time and that the more remote the acts were in time, the less relevant they became. The Court weighed the prejudice of introducing the prior threatening acts and statements against the relevance and held that the acts in question in that case established only a propensity to threaten, not to kill, and that they were very prejudicial to the Appellant in showing her to be a dangerous person. Hence, the prior acts and statements were excluded as more prejudicial than probative.

In the instant case, the time period between threats and the murder is shorter - eight months - but certainly no more proving of actual intent to kill than in <u>Walker</u>. In fact, the argument can be made that in this case it was indeed less so because Appellant never pointed any type of weapon at anyone and the prejudice in implying actual intent to kill outweighs any probative value.

III. <u>THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY ADMITTING, OVER</u> <u>APPELLANT'S OBJECTION, TESTIMONY FROM TYRONE GRAVES</u>.

The Court erred in admitting testimony from Tyrone Graves concerning statements Appellant allegedly made to Graves. At trial, Graves testified that he and an inmate named "William" were in adjoining cells in the Flagler County jail who used to play checkers almost every day and talk all the time (R. XV, p. 1100). Over defense objection, witness Graves described "William" as very angry and very jealous over a young lady who wouldn't speak with him and who refused to answer his phone calls (R. XV, pp. 1104-1105). Witness Graves further testified over defense objection, that Appellant allegedly stated that "if I ever catch the bitch cheating" that he (Appellant) was going to "blow her fucking head off" (R. XV, p. 1106).

Aside from the contemporaneous objections to the testimony as hearsay and irrelevant, the defense also objected, prior to the testimony of witness Graves, on the grounds that the witness did not and could not identify Appellant as the person who made those statements.

Q: When – well, do you see Billy – the person you know as Billy in the courtroom today?

A: I'm looking around and, no, I don't see him, actually.

- Q: You don't see him?
- A: No.

At that point, defense counsel objected to any further testimony by Graves and the objection was overruled (R. XV, pp. 1100-1101).

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