IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM GREGORY,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC11-842

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR FLAGLER COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

Barbara C. Davis
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 410519
444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 500
Daytona Beach, FL 32118
Office of the Attorney General
(386)238-4990
(386)226-0457 (FAX)
Barbara.Davis@MyFloridaLegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

At some point, Jon Schmucker moved in with Lynda, Kory and Gregory. (V24, T2385). Jon drank a lot. Gregory observed the drinking. Jon was verbally abusive. (V24, T2387).

Gregory and Skyler lived together and had one child, Kyla. (V24, T2388). After they separated, Skyler would have Kyla 3 days and Gregory would have the child for 3 days. (V24, T2388). Gregory was involved with Kyla in activities such as going to the beach. (V24, T2389).

Lynda knew that Gregory was "drinking and stuff," but she never saw anything "drastically out of the ordinary." (V24, T2389). She was not aware whether Gregory took any drugs on August 20, 2007. (V24, T2390).

Lynda identified family photos which were admitted in evidence. (V24, T2394-2406; Defendant's Composite Exhibit #1).

When Gregory was around 7 years old he was riding a bike down a hill and the tire came off. He cracked his skull open. (V24, T2407). Gregory was at the hospital in Montana for 24 hours. (V24, T2407).

Approximately one year before the present trial, Gregory's father, Ray, contacted Gregory. (V24, T2408). Ray was living in Richmond Virginia. (V24, T2408). To Lynda's knowledge, Ray never paid child support. (V24, T2409).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>Issue 1</u>. The trial judge did not err in denying the motion to disqualify. The motion was legally insufficient. The fact that a judge has made adverse rulings is legally insufficient to warrant disqualification.

<u>Issue 2</u>. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion by denying the motion *in limine* regarding testimony from Francis Bowling. Gregory told Bowling that if Skyler ever cheated on him, he would kill both her and the man with whom she cheated. This admission by Gregory, made 8 months before the murders, was not so remote it should be excluded. The statement was relevant to Gregory's state of mind, premeditation, and intent. Admission of this statement was not more prejudicial than probative. Error, if any, was harmless.

<u>Issue 3</u>. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion by allowing Tyrone Graves to testify about statements Gregory made. Although Graves did not identify Gregory at trial, he described Gregory and provided Gregory's home phone number which Gregory had given Graves. Gregory's statement was admissible as an admission and to show state of mind. Error, if any, was harmless.

Issue 4. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion by admitting testimony from Michael Green and Cori Aldrich that Gregory told victim Dyer "I want to personally thank you for ruining my life." This statement showed state of mind, knowledge Dyer was dating Skyler, and motive that Gregory believed Dyer ruined

his life. Error, if any, was harmless.

Issues 5 and 6. The trial judge properly applied the aggravating circumstance of cold, calculated, and premeditated. Gregory was jealous to the point of asking Skyler Meekins' brother to hack into her personal compter network to determine whether Skyler was cheating on him. Gregory questioned Skyler's friends and family about her whereabouts and activities. He said he would kill Skyler and any partner with whom she had an affair. When Gregory found out Skyler was dating Dyer, he broke into Skyler's residence and obtained a shotgun from the closet where he knew it would be. He selected his victims carefully, passing the sleeping grandparents and a sleeping child. He executed both victims with one close-range shot to the head. He then quietly left the house, returned home, and tried to conceal evidence by swimming in the ocean. Gregory then attempted to create an alibi by calling "911" to report himself for using drugs and violating his probation. Even if this aggravating factor were stricken, the three remaining aggravating circumstances outweigh the mitigation. Error, if any, was harmless.

<u>Issue 7.</u> Although not raised by Gregory, this Court automatically reviews the sufficiency of the evidence and conducts proportionality review. There is competent substantial evidence to conviction Gregory. The sentence is proportional.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE MOTION TO DISQUALIFY WAS LEGALLY INSUFFICIENT, AND THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ERR IN DENYING IT

Gregory claims the trial judge erred in denying his motion to disqualify the judge and the motion for rehearing of the motion *in limine*. (Initial Brief at 10). The motion to disqualify was denied as being legally insufficient. (V3, R536). The motion to disqualify was based on the trial judge's denial of a motion *in limine*. Additionally, Gregory claimed the trial made prejudicial remarks when ruling on the admissibility of certain phone calls. (V3, R538-40).

A motion to disqualify is governed substantively by section 38.10, Florida Statutes, and procedurally by Florida Rule of Judicial Administration 2.330. *See Cave v. State*, 660 So. 2d 705, 707 (Fla. 1995); *In re Amendments to Fla. Rules of Jud. Admin.*, 939 So. 2d 966, 1003 (Fla. 2006). The rule provides that a motion to disqualify shall show that "the party fears that he or she will not receive a fair trial or hearing because of specifically described prejudice or bias of the judge"; or that the judge is either an interested party to the matter, related to an interested party, related to counsel, or "is a material witness for or against one of the parties to the cause." Fla. R. Jud. Admin. 2.330(d).

In Arbelaez v. State, 898 So. 2d 25 (Fla. 2005), this Court addressed the

standard of review applicable to a denial of a motion to disqualify:

Whether a motion to disqualify the judge is legally sufficient is a question of law we review de novo. See, e.g., Chamberlain v. State, 881 So. 2d 1087 (Fla. 2004); Barnhill v. State, 834 So. 2d 836, 842 (Fla. 2002). Such a motion will be deemed legally insufficient if it fails to establish a "well-grounded fear on the part of the movant that he will not receive a fair hearing." Arbelaez [v. State], 775 So. 2d [909] at 916 [(Fla. 2000)] (citing Correll v. State, 698 So. 2d 522, 524 (Fla. 1997)). A mere "subjective fear[]" of bias will not be legally sufficient; rather, the fear must be objectively reasonable. Fischer v. Knuck, 497 So. 2d 240, 242 (Fla. 1986). The primary consideration is whether the facts alleged, if true, would place a reasonably prudent person in fear of not receiving a fair and impartial trial. Id.

Arbelaez, 898 So. 2d at 41. The fact that the judge has made adverse rulings in the past against the defendant, or that the judge has previously heard the evidence, or "allegations that the trial judge had formed a fixed opinion of the defendant's guilt, even where it is alleged that [t]he judge discussed his opinion with others," are generally considered legally insufficient reasons to warrant the judge's disqualification. Rivera v. State, 717 So. 2d 477, 480-81 (Fla. 1998); Jackson v. State, 599 So. 2d 103, 107 (Fla. 1992). See also Griffin v. State, 866 So. 2d 1, 11 (Fla. 2003) (Judge expressed belief defendant would keep on committing crimes; judge's ex parte explanation to the victim's father of a delay in the trial).

The allegedly improper statements made by the trial judge occurred during a pre-trial hearing on February 4, 2011. (V26). During the section of the motion *in limine* regarding Francis Bowling's potential testimony, the discussion revolved

around whether Bowling's testimony would show premeditation. (V26, R63-64). It was in this context that the trial judge used the word "prophetic." (V26, R66). Immediately following this statement, the trial judge noted:

Now, whether they [the State] can prove that he did this or not, that's another matter, but it seems to me they are entitled to the benefit of trying to prove all the elements of the crime when one is premeditation, and this goes to that issue.

(V26, R66). Gregory argues the "prophetic" statement out of context. When place into context, the word "prophetic" is an appropriate word to use regarding premeditation.

The trial judge's second comment regarding the voice of Skyler Meekins occurred during the portion of the motion *in limine* to exclude phone calls Gregory made from jail. (V26, R67-71). In the back-and-forth with defense counsel, the trial judge opined:

I don't – I really – I mean, you may be unhappy that the victim's voice is here, but I find it quite interesting that the victim, who has now been silenced, is allowed to be heard. I don't think that is a prejudicial event. It's sad, but I don't know that that's – certainly, it doesn't strike me as it being so prejudicial or so – that it would obviate any probative value.

(V26, R86-87). The trial judge did not use the word "refreshing" as alleged in the motion to disqualify and Initial Brief. (V3, R538; Initial Brief at 10). He used the word "interesting." (V26, R86). Nowhere in the discussion regarding phone calls does the judge make any comment that would show bias or impartiality. The fact

that the judge denied the motion in limine is not a reason to disqualify the judge.

ISSUE 2

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION BY DENYING THE THIRD MOTION IN LIMINE

Gregory claims the trial judge erred in denying the motion *in limine* reference Francis Bowling. The standard of review for evidentiary issues is whether the trial judge abused his discretion. *See Smith v. State*, 28 So. 3d 838, 869 (Fla. 2009); *Salazar v. State*, 991 So. 2d 364, 373 (Fla. 2008).

Gregory's paragraph 7 in "Motion in Limine #3" moved to preclude Francis Bowling's statement that Gregory told him that if Skyler left him and went with somebody else, he would kill her and her partner. (V3, R418-419).³ Judge Hammond had previously heard the motion and ruled on each issue. (V3, R465-67). After Judge Hammond declared a mistrial in the first trial (V3, R479), the case was assigned to Judge Parsons (V3, R481), who re-heard the motion *in limine* on February 4, 2011. (V26, R26, 61-66). Gregory argued the statement to Francis Bowling made 8 months prior to the murder was too remote to be admissible and that the statement was unduly prejudicial. (V26, R61-62).

³ The State re-phrased that statement as: "If she left me for someone else, I'd kill them both" or "If he caught Skyler with someone else, he would kill both of them." (V26, R63).

The State argued that since Skyler broke up with Gregory 6 months later (2 months before the murder) the statement was relevant and showed premeditation. (V26, R63-64).

The trial judge held that the statement was not remote and was relevant to premeditation. (V26, R66). A written order addressing each piece of evidence was entered on February 14, 2011. (Supp.R). Paragraph 12 of that order holds:

The State MAY offer evidence that, approximately eight (8) months prior to the murders, the Defendant told former co-worker Francis Bowling that if Skyler Meekins left him for another guy he would kill them both. Such statements are relevant to the issues of premeditation and intent and are not so remote that their relevance is diminished.

(SR, R2).

A trial judge's ruling on the admissibility of evidence will not be disturbed absent an abuse of discretion. *Dessaure v. State*, 891 So. 2d 455, 466 (Fla. 2004). *See also Partin v. State*, 36 Fla. L. Weekly S705 (Fla. Dec. 1, 2011) (abuse of discretion standard used to review ruling on motion *in limine*); *Hodges v. State*, 55 So. 3d 515, 538 (Fla. 2010).

Gregory relies on *Walker v. State*, 997 P.2d 803 (Nev. 2000), cited in the *dissent* in *Robertson v. State*, 780 So. 2d 106 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001)(Initial Brief at 13). The irony of Gregory's mistake in citing this case is that the Third District *Robertson* majority opinion was reversed by this Court in *Robertson v. State*, 829 So. 2d 901 (Fla. 2002). Notwithstanding, this Court's decision in *Robertson* still

does not aid Gregory, since the basis of the ruling was that evidence of a prior threat was not admissible because it *involved a different victim*. Moreover, *Walker* involves threats made 6 years and 10 years prior or to the subject offense. Neither *Walker* nor *Robertson* are comparable to this case, which involves a threat to the specific victims 8 months prior to the murders.

A more informative case is *LaMarca v. State*, 785 So. 2d 1209 (Fla. 2001), in which this Court upheld admission of the defendant's statement that he intended to kill the victim. The statement was made 5 months before the murder. *Lamarca*, 785 So. 2d at 1215. This Court found the statement relevant to premeditation and direct evidence of the intent to kill the victim.

Gregory's more-prejudicial-than-probative argument is likewise unavailing. Gregory's threat to kill Skyler and her partner were relevant and not more prejudicial than probative. In *Dennis v. State*, 817 So. 2d 741 (Fla. 2002), the defendant was convicted of the first-degree murder of a young woman with whom he had a stormy relationship. The defendant argued that the trial court erred in admitting collateral evidence that he stalked, threatened, and assaulted the victim. He argued that this evidence was not relevant to demonstrate motive or intent, and should have been excluded on the grounds of unfair prejudice, as it demonstrated only propensity. The evidence the defendant complained of came from several of the victim's family members and friends who recounted incidents in which the

defendant would stalk the victim. Particularly, the victim's uncle described one incident in which the defendant, while aiming a gun at both of them, threatened to kill him and the victim. In sum, the evidence depicted the turbulent and sometimes violent relationship between the defendant and the victim. This Court in *Dennis* stated that "evidence of bad acts or crimes is admissible without regard to whether it is similar fact evidence if it is relevant to establish a material issue." 817 So. 2d at 762. Noting that the evidence against the defendant in *Dennis* was certainly prejudicial, this Court held that:

[t]he evidence of the nature of [the defendant's] relationship with the victim was relevant to establish [the defendant's] motive. *See Burgal v. State*, 740 So. 2d 82, 83 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999) (holding prior incidents of domestic violence by the defendant against the victim were properly admitted to prove motive, intent, and premeditation in prosecution for attempted first-degree murder); *Brown v. State*, 611 So. 2d 540, 542 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992) (holding that evidence that the defendant had a rocky relationship with the victim and had threatened to kill her if he caught her with another man was relevant to establish motive in a prosecution for battery and attempted second-degree murder).

Dennis, 817 So. 2d at 762.

Likewise, in *Aguiluz v. State*, 43 So. 3d 800 (Fla. 3rd DCA 2010), admission of testimony the defendant threatened to kill the victim was not an abuse of discretion:

We conclude that the testimony of prior incidents was admissible to prove motive, intent and the absence of mistake or accident. *See Dennis*, 817 So. 2d at 762 (finding that collateral evidence that

defendant stalked, threatened, and assaulted former girlfriend was admissible; "[a]lthough certainly prejudicial, the evidence of the nature of [the defendant's] relationship with the victim was relevant to establish [defendant's] motive"); Nicholson v. State, 10 So. 3d 142 (Fla. 4th DCA 2009) (finding that evidence of defendant entering his former wife's home through a window and accusing her of sexual activity with another man was relevant to prove motive and intent in former wife's murder), review denied, 22 So. 3d 68 (Fla. 2009); Burgal v. State, 740 So. 2d 82, 83 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999) (holding prior incidents of domestic violence by the defendant against the victim were properly admitted to prove motive, intent, and premeditation in prosecution for attempted first-degree murder); Evans v. State, 693 So. 2d 1096, 1102 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997) (finding that prior instances of physical abuse were "properly admitted to prove intent and the absence of mistake or accident" in first-degree murder and aggravated child abuse case; defense was that victim had accidentally fallen off his bunk bed, or that he had received injuries during football games); Brown v. State, 611 So. 2d 540 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992) (finding that victim's testimony was admissible as evidence of motive, intent and premeditation in attempted second-degree murder and battery case; defendant's victim girlfriend testified that defendant had jealous streak and had threatened to kill her).

Aguiluz, 43 So. 3d at 804.

The trial court order shows the trial judge carefully weighed each piece of evidence and ruled on its admissibility. There was no abuse of discretion in admitting Francis Bowling's statement. Error, if any, was harmless. *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986).

ISSUE 3

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING TESTIMONY FROM TYRONE GRAVES

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